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Tai Po Catholic Church

Background

Missionary activity outside
the city of Hong Kong began
almost immediately after 1841.
Chapels were opened in Stanley
in 1844 and in Aberdeen in
1849. The priests in charge of
these "Hong Kong Villages"
took responsibility also for
bringing the faith to the Main-
land. As early as 1843, the
Word of God was brought to
the Kowloon and Tsuen Wan
villages by Fr. Francis Leung
(active in the area between 1843
and 1850, and again in 1860),
and Fr. Joseph Chung (1850-
1851), Fr. Matthew Lien (1850-
1854), and Fr. Joachim Lo
(1854-1860), assisted from time
to time by some Italian fathers.
The work of these priests re-
sulted in the opening of a
chapel and school at Tsuen Wan
in 1849, |

These dedicated priests,
despite continuous ill-health,
did not limit their work to the
immediate Tsuen Wan area,

by Dr. Patrick H. Hase
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Tai Po Catholic Church

however, but visited the villages
along the old road between
Tsuen Wan and Tai Po, through
Shing Mun, Leadmine Pass and
Wun Yiu. By 1854 there were
already a few Catholics in
Shing Mun and Wun Yiu and
some in Lam Tsuen as well.
These communities were served
intermittently by priests from
Aberdeen.

This missionary work from
Aberdeen is the origin of Catho-
lic life in Tai Po.
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The new Catholics were
enthusiastic about their faith.
One Catholic moved from Tai
Po to Fung Kong market in
Tung Kuan Country towards the
end of the 1850s. When he
tound no Catholic presence in
the area, he petitioned the
Bishop in Canton, who sent a
priest to serve the area in 1861.
So the laity were spreading the
faith even before any priest was
permanently assigned there.
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Map showing mission stations in the New Territories in the 1860s.
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Dates and Events Relevant to History of Tai Po Church

1841

1842
1843-1850
1844-49
1856-1858
1858

1860

1860

1860

1861

1861

1861

1862

1863

Missionary activity begins outside city of Hong
Kong.

Treaty of Nanjing cedes Hong Kong island to
the British.

Fr. Francis Leung preaches the Gospel in
Kowloon and Tsuen Wan Village.

Chapels open at Stanley, Aberdeen, Tsuen Wan.
Anglo-Chinese War interrupts work of the
Church

Rome entrusts Hong Kong Prefecture to the
Milan Mission Seminary (now PIME, the Pon-
tifical Institute for Foreign Missions).
Convention of Peking cedes Stonecutters Island
and the tip of Kowloon Peninsula as far as
Boundary Street to the British.

Hong Kong Prefecture is extended to cover all
of Hsin An County (the whole of the present
New Territories), plus all the land to the north-
west as far as Tai Ping, and east as far as
Dapeng on Daya.

Fr. Timoleon Raimondi, acting Vice-Prefect,
makes exploratory mission trip to Kowloon.
April: Fr. Burghignoli accompanies Fr.
Raimondi on a second exploratory trip into the
mainland. With them is Andrew Leung, a 24
year old deacon.

A decision is made to extend mission work into
three Hong Kong villages, Outer Islands,
Kowloon and a mainland district with mission
work centered in Wun Yiu near Tai Po.
Following his ordination Andrew Leung is given
responsibility for the mainland district.

Fr. Leung rents a four-room storehouse and
office of a former pottery kiln in Wun Yiu and
sets up a chapel, a residence and two small
schools, one for boys, another for girls. He
serves there until 1898.

May 14, 1863, Ascension Day, the Chapel is
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1864

1865

1866

1866

1867

1868

1874

1874

1875

1875

1875

1898

1898

1898-1920

Trnipod, November-December, 1992

opened in Wun Yiu "with firecrackers and much
thanksgiving.” A number of converts are bap-
tized.

Fr. Simon Volonteri moves to Ting Kok and
opens a school in a building rented to him by the
village elders.

In May, Fr. Volonteri opens a chapel in Ting
Kok which becomes the centre for the mission
work.

Fr. Volonteri publishes the "Volonteri Map",
the only map made of the district until 1898.
Land is sold in Sai Kung to the Church and the
chapel built there becomes the first on the
Mainland actually owned by the Church.

More chapels built on land given to the Church
at Tai Long and Chek Keng.

Fr. Volonteri becomes Pro-vicar and first
Bishop of Henan province.

More chapels are opened in Sai Kung area at
Wong Nai Chau, Tang Ka Wan, Sham Chung
and Wu Kai Sha.

Pretfecture Apostolic of Hong Kong is made a
Vicariate Apostolic.

Diocesan Synod decides that Mainland district
should remain one and be centered in Sai Kung.
Fr. Louis Piazzoli, later bishop, is put in charge
of Sai Kung. Fr. Leung remains in charge of
central area, centred in Tai Po with chapels at
Ting Kok and Wun Yiu.

Fr. Anthony Tam is sent to assist Fr. Leung but
drowns, tragically in typhoon, off Ting Kok
shortly after his arrival.

Because of the increase in the number of con-
verts the Mainland mission district is divided
into 3 districts: Nam Tau, Wai Chow and Sai
Kung which includes Tai Long, North Sai
Kung, Old Tai Po/North Hsin An area.

New Territories are leased to Britain and district
boundaries are redefined.

Many conversions among Tai Po boat people
and shop owners in Tai Po Market.
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1937

1941-45

1947

1961
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Chapel opens in Yuen Long

The Church buys 20,000 sq. metres of land
tfrom Government on top of hill in Kam Shan.

A new church dedicated to St. Andrew is conse-
crated.

Severe typhoon damages church; Mass no
longer said in St. Andrew's. Premise later
becomes the Motherhouse and novitiate of the
Little Sisters of the Poor.

Japanese occupation interrupts Catholic life
throughout the entire area.

Diocese buys 2 old houses on Kwong Fuk Road
within Tai Po Market, close to boat people's
anchorage. These are used for a church dedi-
cated to the Sacred Heart of Mary, a school and
a residence.

Immaculate Heart of Mary Church is dedicated
and Tai Po, until then a mission district, be-
comes a regular parish.

In 1991, the Tai Po Catholic Church celebrated 130 years of
unbroken service.
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Tai Po’s St. Andrew Catholic
Church was built in 1927 and
severely damaged by a typhoon in
1937. Now it is the Motherhouse
and novitiate of the Little Sisters of
Jesus.
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Another view of St. Andrew’s
Church in Tai Po.
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Tai Po Priests

Three priests who hold a
special place in Tai Po church
history are Father Andrew
Leung, the first resident of
Hong Kong to be ordained a
priest; Father Anthony Ma
Chun Yin, Tai Po's first voca-
tion and Father Simon Volonteri
who eventually became the first
bishop of Honan. A brief
account of their stories follow.

Anthony Ma Chun Yin, Tai
Po's First Vocation

Anthony Ma Chun Yin was
born of Catholic parents on
November 10, 1887, at Wun
Yiu on the outskirts of Tai Po,
the son of Ma Sen Ki and Liao
Shi. He was baptized on the
Feast of the Immaculate Con-
ception, December 8, that
same year. The ruins of the
house-chapel where he was
baptized can still be seen at
Wun Yiu village. This site also
represents the earliest roots of
the Catholic Church in the
northern New Territories and
Immaculate Heart of Mary
Parish in Tai Po.

As a young man Anthony
entered the Hong Kong Dioce-
san Seminary to study for the
priesthood. Shortly after, in
1905, his father died and
Anthony inherited the family
estate of 1.68 acres of land, half
of it poor mountainside land.
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Tai Po Catholic Church

This suggests he came from a
tamily neither conspicuously
wealthy nor conspicuously
poor. In any event he handed
over all his land to a close rela-
tive of the younger generation,
Mr. Ma Li Yuen. After com-
pleting his seminary studies,
Anthony was ordained on 28
December, 1911, and immedi-
ately assigned to work in the
Wai Yeung Prefecture, in the
Tam Tong District south of Wai
Chow. In 1922 he was made
director of Wai Chow's Fan
Wo Kong District. Fr. Ma was
to spend all 46 years of his
active priesthood in this area.
During the war the Japanese
occupied the entire region.
Since the Bishop was unable to
communicate with his priests
working in the interior, he
appointed Fr. Ma Vicar Dele-
gate for the Districts of Wai
Chow and Tu Yong. Later, on
May 15, 1946, Fr. Ma was
appointed Vicar for all the rural
areas of the Wai Chow Prefec-
ture. In 1949 the area was
taken over by the Communists.
This made living a Catholic life
virtually impossible. Through-
out so many hardships, Fr.
Ma's holiness, humility and
dedication kept the flame of
Catholic faith alive. He saw it
as his duty to detend the prac-
tice of the faith and freedom to
worship even though, as the
senior resident Catholic priest
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in the area, he was put under
great pressure to compromise
his position.

Eventually Fr. Ma was
taken to Guangzhou. On July
15, 1954, after years of heavy
labours and in broken health, he
applied to the civil authorities in
Guangzhou to leave China for
medical reasons. His petition
was granted only in May, 1957.
He was released at the Macau
border--the last local priest to
be released from the mainland--
and taken by ship to Hong
Kong. He died a few months
later on October 14, 1957, at
Precious Blood Hospital in
Sham Shui Po. He is buried in
Happy Valley Cemetery.

Father Andrew Leung, First
Hong Kong Priest

Father Andrew Leung was
born in 1837 near Canton of a
longstanding Catholic family.
When Andrew was only about
five years old, his family, who
were merchants, decided to
make Hong Kong their home
where Andrew received his
entire education. Ever desirous
of becoming a priest, Andrew,
in 1851, became the first Hong
Kong boy to enter the diocesan
seminary and on April 25,
1862, the first Hong Kong
resident to be ordained. In
1912, Fr. Leung celebrated his
Golden Jubilee and experienced
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Fr. Andrew Leung in his later years.
For his extraordinary zeal, Rome
conferred on him the title of
"apostolic missionary". He was
resident priest in Wunyiu from
1862-1892.
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the joy of having his mother,
aged 95, present for the celebra-
tion.

Father Leung was the first
priest resident in Tai Po where
he served selflessly and energet-
ically until 1898 when he was
transferred to a physically less
strenuous post at the Cathedral.
By his zeal Fr Leung during his
36 years of service in Tai Po
not only helped put the church
there on a solid faith footing but
also provided the Catholics with
an exemplary role model.

Fr. Leung died in 1920 at
the age of 83 after having
preached a three-hour mission
sermon in his native village
near Canton. His obituary aptly
characterized him as "studious,
energetic, thoughtful, active,
and cheerful, an unceasing
worker, a wise counselor, and a
priest much loved for his
exemplary, and zealous life."
Father Andrew Leung is
buried in the Catholic Cemetery
in Happy Valley.

Father Simon Volonteri,
First Bishop of Henan

Fr. Simon Volonteri began
his mission work in the village
of Tai Wo in the Mainland dis-
trict, after Fr. Leung. This
mission started well, but fell
foul of the villagers because of
fengshui problems. Fr. Volon-
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teri's life was threatened, and
eventually he was forced to
leave the mission. He moved to
Ting Kok in 1864, and opened
a school in a building rented to
him outside the village by the
elders. In May 1865 he also
opened a chapel.

Between 1864 and 1868 the
priests resident in the area,
especially Frs. Volonteri and
Leung, who liked working as a
team, were continuously on the
move, walking from village to
village to preach and bring the
sacraments to the tiny scattered
groups of the faithtul living
here and there in the vast dis-
trict which was their responsi-
bility. The priests kept notes of
all their journeys, and these
formed the basis of the splendid
map of the area drawn by Fr.
Volonteri and published in
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Fr. Simon Volunteri, P.1M.E., pro-
vicar and bishop of Henan, was
resident priest in Tingkok and
worked with Fr. Leung as a team.
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1866. This map, known as the
"Volonteri Map", remained the
only map of the area until 1898,
and is justly famous as a work
of cartography. It is, however,
even more a memorial of
arduous, non-stop and devoted
missionary work by the two
priests whose journeys underlie
1t.

Missionary work in these
early days was not just preach-
ing and administering the
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sacraments. These were lawless
times, when the law-enforce-
ment powers of the Government
were at a low ebb because of
the Taiping Rebellion. It was
also a period of food shortage
and when armed gangs of
bandits terrorized the villages.

Fr. Volonteri worked in the
area until 1868, when he was
named Pro-Vicar and then first
Bishop of Henan.
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An early view of Tai Po’s railroad station.




